# FILED **Nov 18, 2014**

Court of Áppeals
Division III
State of Washington

91050-2

#### THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### A. <u>IDENTITY OF PETITIONER</u>

Nanambi I. Gamet, petitioner here and appellant below, requests this Court grant review of the decision designated in Part B of the petition.

#### B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Pursuant to RAP 13.4, Mr. Gamet requests this Court grant review of the decision of the Court of Appeals, No. 31404-9-III (October 28, 2014). A copy of the decision is attached as Appendix A.

#### C. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

1. The constitutional right to due process guarantees a criminal defendant a fair trial. The admission of unfairly prejudicial evidence of prior crimes may violate a defendant's right to a fair trial. Evidence of Mr. Gamet's prior convictions for violation of a protection order was not relevant for any material purpose in proving the current charges of violation of a protection order, and related only to the classification of the offense and punishment. Does the conclusion of the Court of Appeals that the prior convictions were elements of the offense of violation of a protection order conflict with decisions by the this Court and the United States Supreme Court that have repeatedly held that prior convictions are not elements of the substantive offense, raise a significant question of law under the federal and state constitutions, and involve an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court?

2. Jury instructions may not relieve the State of its burden to prove every essential element of the charged offense beyond a reasonable doubt. Here, the definitional instruction and the "to convict" instruction for tampering with a witness misstated an essential element of the offense by omission of the prepositional phrase "without right or privilege to do so," which modifies the phrase "to withhold any testimony." Without deciding whether the "right or privilege" belonged to the defendant or the witness, and without further deciding whether the phrase stated an element or an affirmative defense, the Court of Appeals ruled the error was harmless because Mr. Gamet never asserted a privilege. Does this ruling that shifts the burden of production to the defendant conflict with decisions by the this Court and the United States Supreme Court regarding the State's burden of proof, raise a significant question of law under the federal and state constitutions, and involve an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court?

#### D. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

In 2010, Nanambi I. Gamet was convicted of assault in the third degree against his long-time girlfriend, Sandra Castillo, and the court issued a no contact order of protection prohibiting Mr. Gamet from contacting her. RP 504; Ex. 17. Ms. Castillo tried numerous times to have

the order lifted, but the court repeatedly denied her requests. RP 491-92, 504.

At various times in June 2012, Mr. Gamet was in custody on unrelated charges in Yakima City Jail and Yakima County Jail. Telephone calls placed by inmates in both facilities are recorded and Yakima Police Detective Michael Durbin listened to several recorded telephone calls from Yakima City Jail allegedly placed by Mr. Gamet to Ms. Castillo in May 2012. RP 364, 370-71, 414-16; Ex. 3. Detective Durbin also listened to several recorded telephone calls from Yakima County Jail allegedly placed by Mr. Gamet to Ms. Castillo in June 2012. RP 372-73, 612-13; Ex. 4, 5. He interviewed Ms. Castillo as part of his investigation into whether the telephone calls were violations of the no contact order. RP 726-27. Ms. Castillo was uncooperative and she did not want to assist in the prosecution of the charges. RP 728-30.

On August 21, 2012, Detective Durbin listened to a recorded telephone call allegedly placed by Mr. Gamet to Linda Prado, Ms. Castillo's niece, in which Mr. Gamet stated he mailed a letter addressed to her that he wanted given to Ms. Castillo. RP 510-11, 515-16, Ex. 6, 7. Detective Durbin went to Ms. Prado's address and intercepted the letter before she received it. RP 520, 524-25, 646; Ex. 1, 2.

Mr. Gamet was charged with three counts of "felony violation of a protection order - domestic violence," in violation of RCW 26.50.110(5) and 10.99.020, based on the telephone calls placed in May 2012. CP 18-19. He was separately with five counts of "felony violation of a protection order - domestic violence," in violation of RCW 26.50.110(5) and 10.99.020, based on telephone calls placed in June 2012, and one count of tampering with a witness, in violation of RCW 9A.72.120, based on the letter he sent to Ms. Prado. CP 147-49. The matters were consolidated for trial. RP 12, 15. Ms. Castillo appeared at trial only after being arrested on a material witness warrant. Ex. 23-24. She testified that the no contact order was issued against her wishes, the issuing court denied her repeated requests to have the order lifted, she was not afraid of or intimated by Mr. Gamet, and she freely chose not to cooperate with the prosecution of the instant charges. RP 491-93, 495-96.

Mr. Gamet was convicted of all nine counts, as charged. CP 68-73, 174-85.

On appeal, Mr. Gamet argued in part that the trial court erred in admitting evidence of his prior convictions for violation of a protection order because recidivism is not an element of the offense of "felony" violation of a protection order. He also argued the jury instructions for tampering with a witness misstated an element of the offense by omission

of the prepositional phrase "without right or privilege to do so," which modified the phrase "to withhold testimony." The Court of Appeals ruled the prior convictions for violation of a protection order were elements of the felony offense and omission of the propositional phrase was harmless because Mr. Gamet never asserted a right or privilege.

#### E. ARGUMENT

1. The Court of Appeals' ruling that prior convictions for violation of a protection order are elements of the offense of "felony" violation of a protection order is contrary to decisions by this Court and by the United States Supreme Court that prior convictions are not elements of a crime that must be submitted to a jury.

The fact of recidivism is not an element of the offense of violation of a court order. Both this Court and the United States Supreme Court have repeatedly stated that prior convictions are not elements of a crime, even where those facts increase the defendant's punishment. *Almendarez-Torres v. United States*, 523 U.S. 224, 241, 118 S.Ct. 1219, 140 L.Ed.2d 350 (1998); *State v. Witherspoon*, 180 Wn.2d 875, 891-94, 325 P.3d 888 (2014); *State v. Wheeler*. 145 Wn.2d 116, 120, 34 P.3d 799 (2001).

In *Almendarez-Torres*, the Court found the fact of recidivism was not an element of the offense of reentry of removed aliens. but, rather, a penalty provision that provided for an increased penalty based on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>8 U.S.C. § 1326(a).

recidivism. 523 U.S. at 226. The Court reasoned that Congress had not stated its intent that the fact of recidivism be considered an element, even though it was contained in the same statute that set out the elements of the offense. *Id.* at 234. The Court noted that recidivism was a fact that "is neither 'presumed' to be present, nor need be 'proved' to be present, in order to prove the commission of the relevant crime." *Id.* at 241. The Court further noted the unfair prejudice that flows from evidence of prior convictions, and stated, "[W]e do not believe, other things being equal, that congress would have wanted to create this kind of unfairness in respect to facts that are almost never contested." *Id.* at 235. The Court then concluded "recidivism ... is a traditional, if not the most traditional, basis for a sentencing court's increasing an offender's sentence." *Id.* at 243.

This Court has adopted the reasoning from *Almendarez-Torres*, and stated, "Traditional factors considered by a judge in determining the appropriate sentence, such as prior criminal history, are not elements of the crime." *Wheeler*, 145 Wn.2d at 120. More recently, this Court noted, "the right to jury determinations does not extend to the fact of prior convictions for sentencing purposes." *State v. McKague*, 172 Wn.2d 802, 803 n.1, 262 P.3d 1225 (2011). Thus, even though the fact of recidivism increases the punishment for an offense, that result does not make recidivism an element of the offense.

In addition, the penalty classification of an offense is not an element of the offense, even if the classification is contained in the same statute that sets forth the elements of the offense. *State v. Williams*, 162 Wn.2d 177, 187-88, 170 P.3d 30 (2007). In *Williams*, the defendant was charged with bail jumping, in violation of RCW 9A.76.170, which provides, in relevant part:

- (1) Any person having been released by court order or admitted to bail with knowledge of the requirement of a subsequent personal appearance before any court of this state, or of the requirement to report to a correctional facility for service of sentence, and who fails to appear or who fails to surrender for service of sentence as required is guilty of bail jumping.
- (3) Bail jumping is:
- (a) A class A felony is the person was held for, charged with, or convicted of murder in the first degree;
- (b) A class B felony is the person was held for, charged with, or convicted of a class A felony other than murder in the first degree;
- (c) A class C felony is the person was held for, charged with, or convicted of a class B or class C felony;
- (d) A misdemeanor of the person was held for, charged with, or convicted or a gross misdemeanor or misdemeanor.

The Court concluded "Subsection (1) defines the elements of bail jumping and does not explicitly or implicitly reference the penalties in subsection (3)," and, therefore, the provisions of subsection (3) were not elements of the offense. 162 Wn.2d at 188.

Violation of a protection order, RCW 26.50.110, mirrors the structure of the bail jumping statute at issue in *Williams* and the reentry of

removed aliens at issue in *Almendarez-Torres*, and provides in relevant part:

- (1)(a) Whenever an order is granted under this chapter, [or] chapter ... 10.99, ... and the respondent or person to be restrained knows of the order, a violation of any of the following provisions of the order is a gross misdemeanor, except as provided in subsections (4) and (5) of this section:
- (i) The restraint provisions prohibiting acts or threats of violence against, or stalking of, a protected party, or restraint provisions prohibiting contact with a protected party;
- (ii) A provision excluding the person from a residence, workplace, school, or day care;
- (iii) A provision prohibiting a person from knowingly coming within, a specified distance of a location;
- (iv) A provision prohibiting interfering with the protected party's efforts to remove a pet owned, possessed, leased, kept, or held by the petitioner, respondent, or a minor child residing with either the petitioner or the respondent; or
- (v) A provision of a foreign protection order specifically indicating that a violation will be a crime.
- (4) Any assault that is a violation of an order issued under this chapter, [or] chapter ... 10.99, ... and that does not amount to assault in the first or second degree under RCW 9A.36.011 or 9A.36.021 is a class C felony, and any conduct in violation of such an order that is reckless and creates a substantial risk of death or serious physical injury to another person is a class C felony (5) A violation of a court order issued under this chapter, [or] chapter ... 10.99, ... is a class C felony if the offender has at least two previous convictions for violating the provisions of an order issued under this chapter, [or] chapter ... 10.99.

As in *Williams* and *Almendarez-Torres*, the acts which establish the "illegality of the behavior" that constitute violation of a protection order are set forth in subsection (1), and subsections (4) and (5) merely determined the circumstances which give rise to an enhanced penalty.

Each time this Court has addressed the question of whether a prior offense is an element, it has unambiguously answered 'no,' even when the prior offense substantially increased the penalty. Despite this line of authority, the Court of Appeals ruled this issue is controlled by *State v. Oster*, 147 Wn.2d 141, 52 P.3d 26 (2002), and *State v. Roswell*, 165 Wn.2d 186, 196 P.3d 705 (2008). But neither *Oster* nor *Roswell* addressed the question in this case. In *Oster*, the defendant was charged with violation of a no contact order. 147 Wn.2d at 143. The jury was provided a "to convict" instruction that set out the elements of the substantive offense of violation of a no contact order and a separate special verdict form to decide whether the defendant has two prior convictions for violation of a no contact order. *Id*. On appeal, the defendant challenged the bifurcated instructions, but he did not challenge whether the prior convictions were elements of the substantive offense. *Id*. Thus, the issue of whether recidivism was a statutory element was not before this Court.

In *Roswell*, the defendant was charged with communication with a minor for immoral purposes, an offense that is a gross misdemeanor unless the defendant has a prior conviction for a felony sexual offense in which case it is a Class C felony. 165 Wn.2d at192. At trial, the defendant argued his prior conviction for a felony sexual offense was an aggravator and he moved for a bifurcated trial with a jury determination regarding the

charged offense and a judicial determination regarding the prior conviction. *Id.* at 189. On appeal, however, the defendant argued the prior conviction was an element of the offense but that he nonetheless was entitled to bifurcation of the guilt phase from the determination of the prior conviction. *Id.* at 192-93. This Court stated the prior conviction was an element on the grounds, "a defendant charged with felony communication with a minor for immoral purposes can never be convicted of that crime if the State is unable to prove that the defendant has a prior felony sexual offense conviction." Id. at 194. However, as in Oster, the defendant did not challenge whether recidivism was a statutory element. Moreover, the Legislature did not enact a crime entitled "felony communication of a minor for immoral purposes." Rather, the Legislature enacted a single offense entitled "Communication with a minor for immoral purposes -- Penalties," with various potential penalties depending on the defendant's criminal history. RCW 9.68A.090. Similarly, the Legislature enacted a crime entitled "Violation of order – Penalties," and not "felony violation of a protection order." RCW 26.50.110. The Court of Appeals' reliance on Oster and Roswell is misplaced.

Mr. Gamet's conduct was the same regardless of his criminal history. The substantive elements of violation of a protection order remained the same; his prior offenses did not alter the crime in any way,

but merely increased the punishment that could be imposed. In this regard, the prior offenses at issue here are indistinguishable from the prior offense at issue in *Wheeler*, or the classification of the offense for which a person was released pending a hearing at issue in *Williams*.

The Legislature has not expressed an intent to make recidivism an element of violation of a protection order, and in the prejudicial nature of such evidence, that intent should not be presumed. *Almendarez-Torres*, 523 U.S. at 235. There is no basis to conclude that the prior convictions are elements of violation of a protection order. Within constitutional limits, the Legislature is free to define the elements of a crime. The Legislature has defined the elements of violation of a protection order in RCW 26.50.110(1). Those elements do not include prior convictions.

The Court of Appeals ruling that prior convictions are statutory elements of the offense of violation of a protection order is contrary to decisions by this Court and by the United States Supreme Court, raises a significant question of law under the federal and state constitutions, and involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3), and (4), this Court should accept review.

2. The Court of Appeals' ruling that omission of the phrase "without right or privilege to do so that modified the phrase "to withhold any testimony" was harmless because Mr. Gamet did not assert a right or privilege is contrary to well-settled law regarding the State's burden of proof.

A defendant has the due process right to proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every essential element of the charged offense. U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Wash. Const. art. I, sec. 3; *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.E.2d 386 (1970); *State v. Mau.*, 178 Wn.2d 308, 312, 308 P.3d 629, 630-31 (2013). Accordingly, jury instructions must accurately inform the trier of fact of the applicable law. *State v. Clausing*, 147 Wn.2d 620, 626, 56 P.3d 550 (2002). An instruction that misstates or omits an essential element of an offense relieves the State of this burden of proof. *State v. Linehan*, 147 Wn.2d 638, 653, 56 P.3d 542 (2002). "An instruction that relieves the State of its burden to prove every essential element of a crime requires automatic reversal." *State v. Brown*, 147 Wn.2d 330, 339, 58 P.3d 889 (2002).

Here, the definitional instruction and the "to convict" instruction misstated the law by omission of the prepositional phrase "without right or privilege to do so," which modifies and limits the phrase "to withhold testimony." an essential element of the offense of tampering with a witness, as charged. RCW 9A.72.120(1)(a) provides in relevant part:

- (1) A person is guilty of tampering with a witness if he or she attempts to induce a witness or person he or she has reason to believe is about to be called as a witness in any official proceeding or a person whom he or she has reason to believe may have information relevant to a criminal investigation ... to:
- (a) Testify falsely or, without right or privilege to do so, to withhold any testimony....

(Emphasis added).

The jury was provided the following definitional instruction for tampering with a witness, which omitted the prepositional phrase "without right or privilege to do so":

A person commits the crime of Tampering with a Witness when he or she attempts to induce a witness or a person he or she has reason to believe is about to be called as a witness in any official proceeding, or a person whom he or she has reason to believe may have information relevant to a criminal investigation to withhold any testimony or to absent himself or herself from any official proceedings, or to withhold from a law enforcement agency information which he or she had relevant to a criminal investigation.

CP 61 (Instruction 16).

The "to convict" instruction similarly omitted the prepositional phrase "without right or privilege to do so," and provided in relevant part:

To convict the defendant of the crime of Tampering with a Witness ... each of the following elements of the crime must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt:

(1) That ... the defendant attempted to induce a person to withhold any testimony or absent herself from any official proceeding or withhold from a law enforcement agency

information which she had relevant to a criminal investigation....

CP 63 (Instruction No. 19).

The Court of Appeals questioned, without deciding, whether the "right or privilege" belonged to the defendant or to the witness. Opinion at 12. The Court also questioned, without deciding, whether the challenged phrase was an element of the offense or an affirmative defense. Opinion at 13.

Nonetheless, the Court ruled omission of the phrase from the "to convict" instruction was harmless, even if the phrase was an element of the offense, because Mr. Gamet never asserted a right or privilege.

Opinion at 13. However, a defendant does not have standing to assert a personal right or privilege for a third party unless the third party cannot assert the right or privilege on his or her own behalf. *In re Guardianship of Cobb*, 172 Wn. App. 393, 403, 292 P.3d 772 (2012). Also, "the State cannot require the defendant to disprove any fact that constitutes the crime charged." *State v. W.R., Jr.*, No. 88341-6, 2014 WL 5400399, at \*2 (Wash. 10/30/2014). Therefore, this ruling implicitly found the right or privilege belonged to the defendant and the challenged phrase is an affirmative defense. But, as indicated by the grammatical structure of the statute, the Legislature did not cast the phrase "without right or privilege

to do so" as an affirmative defense where the defendant has the burden of production. Rather, the phrase functions as an adverb that modifies and limits the immediately following phrase "withhold any testimony."

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