RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Jan 06, 2015, 4:18 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

**RECEIVED** 

NO. 91050-2

...

#### THE SUPREME COURT OF

## OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

NANAMBI I. GAMET,

Appellant.

#### RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW BY YAKIMA COUNTY

David B. Trefry WSBA #16050 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

JOSEPH A. BRUSIC Yakima County Prosecuting Attorney 128 N. 2d St. Rm. 329 Yakima, WA 98901-2621



##

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

- 1. The Court of Appeals regarding prior convictions was correct. And not contrary to decisions by this court or federal court decisions.
- 2. The Court of Appeals decision regarding Mr. Gamet's assertion regarding privilege is correct and is not contrary to state or federal decisions.

#### C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Court of Appeals set forth the facts extensively in its decision

the State shall not repeat those here.

- D. ARGUMENT
- 1. Standards of Review.

RAP 13.4(b) Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review.;

This case does not  $\underline{1}$ ) Conflict with any decision by this court, the

claim that the Court of Appeals ruling is incorrect is baseless. This

allegation is based on a reading of the courts decision which is incorrect

and does not take into account the plain meaning of that ruling nor the facts of the case hot the standard set forth in Alvarado, infra.;

2) This ruling does not conflict with any ruling by any other division of the Court of Appeals or for that matter any court. This issue has been ruled on previously as indicated by the cases cited by the Court of Appeals.

3) The ruling of the Court of Appeals does not raise a significant question under either the State or Federal Constitution; the ruling merely reiterates the proof standard needed to support the introduction of evidence pursuant to court rule and case law.

#### **RESPONSE TO ALLEGATION 1**

As the Court of Appeals stated "Decisions involving evidentiary issues lie largely within the sound discretion of the trial court and ordinarily will not be reversed on appeal absent a showing of abuse of discretion. <u>State v. Castellanos</u>, 132 Wn.2d 94, 97, 935 P.2d 1353 (1997). A trial court abuses its discretion if it improperly applies an evidence rule. <u>State v. Young</u>, 160 Wn.2d 799, 806, 161 P.3d 967 (2007).

Cases cited by Gamet are not controlling nor does the decision of the Court of Appeals contradict those cases of any other case. The attempt to compare a case such as <u>Almendarez-Torres v. United States</u>, 523 U.S. 224, 118 S.Ct. 1219, 140 L.Ed2d 350 (1998) to the statute under which the conviction of Gamet arose is incorrect. The court in <u>Almendarez-</u> <u>Torres</u> specifically indicated that the changes made in the United States Code pertaining to the charges against Almendarez-Torres were a sentence enhancement not the creation of a new crime. The crime charged and proven against Appellant while carrying the same "name" as the previous non-felony version is in fact a new crime. There is no method by which a court could "enhance" the a crime charged as a something other than a felony to a felony without the actions of a jury. Further, in <u>Almendarez-Torres</u> the court discusses that what is being addressed is "recidivism." " At the outset, we note that the relevant statutory subject matter is recidivism. That subject matter—prior commission of a serious crime—is as typical a sentencing factor as one might imagine." Id at 230.

While it is true that the actions of Gamet in continually violating no contact orders would be considered as "recidivism" it is clear that the legislature was enacting a new law that would punish the very specific actions of an individual violation orders to stay away from a victim. The most common scenario is that of a victim being violated by the same offender such and in this case. The crime charged and proven against Gamet, unlike Almendarez-Torres is not based on the prior conviction for any "aggravated felony" as was Almendarez-Torres. Here there has to be proof of a very specific crime, here the information alleges two prior

convictions. RCW 26.50.110 states that "Whenever an order is granted under this chapter, chapter 7.92, 7.90, 9A.46, 9.94A, 10.99, 26.09, 26.10, 26.26, or 74.34 RCW, or there is a valid foreign protection order as defined in RCW 26.52.020, and the respondent or person to be restrained knows of the order, a violation of any of the following provisions of the order is a gross misdemeanor, except as provided in subsections (4) and (5) of this section:" (Emphasis mine.) Thereafter the statute sets forth the separate crime; "A violation of a court order issued under this chapter, chapter 7.92, 7.90, 9A.46, 9.94A, 10.99, 26.09, 26.10, 26.26, or 74.34 RCW, or of a valid foreign protection order as defined in RCW 26.52.020 , is a class C felony if the offender has at least two previous convictions for violating the provisions of an order issued under this chapter, chapter 7.90, 9A.46, 9.94A, 10.99, 26.09, 26.10, 26.26, or 74.34 RCW, or a valid foreign protection order as defined in RCW 26.52.020. The previous convictions may involve the same victim or other victims specifically protected by the orders the offender violated."

<u>Almendarez-Torres</u> states "<u>If Congress intended subsection (b) to</u> <u>set forth substantive crimes, in respect to which subsection (a) would</u> <u>define a lesser included offense, see Blockburger v. United States</u>, 284 U.S. 299, 304 (1932), what are those words doing there?" <u>Id</u> at 231. (Emphasis mine.) Here there is a lesser crime, one that is such that it is

charged, tried and sentenced in another division of the court, district court, a court of limited jurisdiction. If the crime charged was not a new or separate crime it would be able to be plead, proven and sentenced in the lower court.

Once again this is not a "sentence enhancement." Gamet states that Oster, infra, does not address his issue which is "recidivism" as an element, as opposed to "prior convictions" a distinction without a distinction. <u>State v. Oster</u>, 147 Wn.2d 141, 146, 52 P.3d 26 (2002) (explaining that, where the existence of two prior convictions elevated the crime of violation of a no contact order from a misdemeanor to a felony, that, "[a]s set forth in the statute, the prior convictions function as an element of the felony violation of a no contact order."); State v. Cochrane. 160 Wn.App. 18, 25, 253 P.3d 95 (2011) (holding that the existence of four prior DUI offenses within ten years is an essential element of felony DUI that must be alleged in the charging document); State v. Chambers, 157 Wn.App. 465, 475, 237 P.3d 352 (2010), ("[p]roof of the existence of the prior offenses that elevate a crime from a misdemeanor to a felony is an essential element that the State must establish beyond a reasonable doubt"); State v. Castle. 156 Wn.App. 539, 543, 234 P.3d 260 (2010) ("[b]y a plain reading of the statute, RCW 46.61.502 subsection (6) adds an element to the list of elements stated in subsection (1) to define the

offense of felony driving under the influence"); <u>State v. Davis</u>. 116 Wn.App. 81, 93-94, 64 P.3d 661 (2003) (holding that where statute requires proof of a prior conviction in order to elevate the underlying crime from a misdemeanor to a felony, the prior convictions are elements of the crime that must be proved to a jury beyond a reasonable doubt); <u>State v. Carmen</u>. 118 Wn.App. 655, 667, 77 P.3d 368 (2003) (acknowledging that, where statute provides that upon proof of two prior convictions for violating a no contact order, a third or subsequent offense elevates the crime from a gross misdemeanor to a felony, the prior convictions are an essential element of the crime).

The language of the statute in this case bears little resemblance to that considered in <u>Almendarez-Torres</u>. Moreover, <u>Almendarez-Torres</u>, does not address the circumstances presented here, where the prior conviction actually changes the classification of the crime from a gross misdemeanor to a felony. Not only does the statute increase the possible sanction for the crime, it expressly directs that the sanction be determined under a completely different statutory scheme, the Sentencing Reform Act, chapter RCW 9.94A. This supports the conclusion that the legislature intended to create a different crime by adding the element of qualifying prior offenses.

This court and numerous other courts of review have determined that this type of crime must be pleaded and proven as the State did in this case. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with nothing and should not be disturbed. As stated by the Court of Appeals:

At oral argument to this court, his counsel explained that this argument was made in anticipation of the United States Supreme Court changing its jurisprudence. In light of the fact that this argument currently is precluded by existing authority, we will address it only briefly.

The essence of the argument is that because the existence of a prior conviction does not have to be proven to the jury, it cannot and should not be submitted to the jury. This argument is foreclosed by the decisions in <u>State v.</u> <u>Roswell</u>, 165 Wn.2d 186, 196 P.3d 705 (2008), and <u>State v.</u> <u>Oster</u>, 147 Wn.2d 141, 52 P.3d 26 (2002).

RESPONSE TO ALLEGATION 2 – RIGHT OR PRIVILEGE.

Gamet notes that the Court of Appeals "questioned without deciding, whether the challenged phrase was an element of the offense or and affirmative defense." Then Gamet claims in the next paragraph "this ruling implicitly found that right or privilege belonged to the defendant and the challenged phrase is an affirmative defense."

The State is uncertain how Gamet can determine that the very explicit words of a Court of Appeal are in fact not what that court meant. This interpretation is in complete opposition to the actual wording of the Court of Appeals ruling that explicitly ruled "We need not resolve the debate whether the challenged phrase is an element of the crime or an affirmative defense, because even if the phrase is an element of the crime, its absence from the jury instructions in this case was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt." (Slip opinion at 13) As indicated in Merriam-Webster's Online Dictionary, "implicit adjective \im-'pli-sət\: understood though not clearly or directly stated."

The words "We need not resolve the debate whether the challenged phrase is an element of the crime or an affirmative defense,...." Are the very definition of explicit; ex plicit, adjective \ik-'spli-sət\ 1a : fully revealed or expressed without vagueness, implication, or ambiguity : leaving no question as to meaning or intent <explicit instructions>" By this statement the Court of Appeals was not attempting to impart some hidden message that "the right or privilege belonged to the defendant and the challenged phrase is an affirmative defense." (Pet. for Review at 14)

The standard of review regarding the alleged failure is also explicitly set forth in the Court of Appeals decision. The basis for the trial court's decision was sound. This type of decision is, as the Court of Appeals ruled, a matter of discretion. <u>State v. Downing</u>, 151 Wn.2d 265, 272-3 (2004) "We will not disturb the trial court's decision unless the appellant or petitioner makes "a clear showing . . . [that the trial court's] discretion [is] manifestly unreasonable, or exercised on untenable grounds, or for untenable reasons." <u>State ex rel. Carroll v. Junker</u>, 79 Wn.2d 12, 26,

482 P.2d 775 (1971) (citing <u>MacKay v. MacKay</u>, 55 Wn.2d 344, 347 P.2d 1062 (1959))."

If Gamet's argument were to hold, it would be incumbent on the State to prove for each and every witness who took the stand in a trial that they did not have some privilege that could be "asserted" by the defendant. Each and every witness would have to be vetted to determine if they had ever had a priest- penitent relationship or been married to the defendant or had been an attorney, doctor, nurse, reporter who had spoken with that witness with regard to the defendant each and every time a witness took the stand. Clearly that is not the requirement of the law. If Appellant had the right to assert a marital privilege his attorney would have done so, in the discussion regarding this issue in the trial court. The

following is the discussion in the trial court;

.

MR. SOUKUP: Yeah, I don't think it should be in there. It is bracketed and my understanding of it is that if there's some evidence that the person -- you know, the Defendant had some right or privilege to do these things, to induce a person to testify in a certain way.

MR. SOUKUP: I think it does modify withhold any testimony or absent them self, but I also think that there's a burden on the Defense to put on some evidence of that before it becomes an issue, and that's why they have it bracketed. Because it's kind of hard to show – I don't know how you prove that he doesn't have right or privilege. Oh, for example, if he was -let's say they were married and there was marital privilege. THE COURT: Right.

MR. SOUKUP: Then he would have a right to, you know, tell his wife, I don't want you to testify.

THE COURT: Right. So you're saying it should cross out without right or privilege to do so?

MR. SOUKUP: Right, because there's no evidence of that.

THE COURT: Mr. Krom? You don't think this should be given at all, I realize that.

MR. KROM: Right. Yeah, we're excepting to the giving of the instruction at all. To the extent it is given, I don't know if that could arguably refer to any right or privilege that the witness in this case, Sandra Castillo, might have and I think there is the possibility that she may have a Fifth Amendment right or privilege to withhold information. She doesn't have to provide relevant information to a criminal investigation if she thinks it may incriminate her. (Emphasis

mine)

MR. SOUKUP: Well, Your Honor, there's absolutely no evidence of that.

## MR. KROM: Well, we objected to her being questioned about certain areas along those lines and there is, at least according to the interpretation of the detective, discussion about drug usage and

whatnot in the recordings that could potentially incriminate the speaker. So I think it should probably just be left in.

MR. SOUKUP: Your Honor, I think under this instruction the Defendant has to have the right or privilege, not the --

THE COURT: I think that's what it's saying, too. It's the person who commits the crime. Well, I don't see that there's any evidence even if there was any right or privilege to do so that she would have.

MR. SOUKUP: Right.

THE COURT: Because he would have to assert that she had this right and she didn't say or do any -- it seems kind of strange that it would be in there. Well, let's look.

MR. SOUKUP: Think it must apply to actual evidentiary privileges. If she were his attorney, he could tell her, don't reveal my confidential information to law enforcement.

THE COURT: All right. I must not have -- I don't think that -- let's see. I think you're correct in that it says without right or privilege to do so to withhold any testimony, it alters that one -- I mean, it relates to that. I'm going to read it more carefully. Without right or privilege to do so, I do not believe it applies to this circumstance. It'll have to be changed.

#### MR. KROM: We're going to strike that out?

THE COURT: Yes.

MR. KROM: All right.

RP 787-8 (Emphasis mine.)

As stated in Respondent's opening brief;

"There was no "right of privilege" which could have been raised by Appellant, there was no error here. Appellant has not explained how this "element" was "essential" to this case when in fact there was no right or privilege that existed that could have been raised or that needed to be proven." Before this court Appellant has not set forth anything upon which this court could or should grant further review.

As noted by the Court of Appeals;

We need not resolve the debate whether the challenged phrase is an element of the crime or an affirmative defense, because even if the phrase is an element of the crime, its absence from the jury instructions in this case was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Omission of an element from a "to-convict" instruction is harmless error if it is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that the error did not contribute to the verdict. Neder v. United States, 527 U.S. 1, 15, 119 S. Ct. 1827, 144 L. Ed. 2d 35 (1999) (citing Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 87 S. Ct. 824, 17 L. Ed. 2d 705 (1967)); State v. Thomas, 150 Wn.2d 821, 840-41, 83 P.3d 970 (2004). That is the situation here. Mr. Gamet never contended that he was privileged to attempt to dissuade S.C. from cooperating with the prosecution of the case against him. If the privilege language is an element of the offense, it was not an element at issue in this case. Accordingly, if there was any error, it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt." (Slip opinion at 13)

What this court must consider when reviewing a matter under

RAP 13.4 is not the speculative argument of the petitioner but the rulings

made by the lower court and determine if those rulings are such that the party, pursuant to RAP 13.4(b) should be granted further review.

In this case Mr. Gamet has not met the test. There is no conflict with either State or Federal case law. There noting in the Court of Appeals decision that would allow for review of that court's ruling under RAP 13.4(b).

E. CONCLUSION

•

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